2010

# Ralph O. Davis, Sr v. Marion Davis : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## JURISDICTION

Appellate jurisdiction is present pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. § 78A-4-103(1)(j) and Rule 3 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case involves an appeal of the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of the Defendants/Appellees on the basis that:

#### Statute of Limitations

(1) The trial court erred when it found that the discovery rule was not met and determined that the statute of limitations commenced in 1980. The appellate court reviews a trial court's "summary judgment determination for correctness, granting no deference to the district court's legal conclusions.

a. **Standard of Review:** [The appellate court] determines only whether the district court erred in applying the governing law and whether the district court correctly held that there were no disputed issues of material fact." *Salt Lake County v. Holliday Water Co.*, 2010 UT, ¶ 14, 234 P.3d 1105 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). An appeals court also reviews "[t]he applicability of both the statute of limitations and the equitable discovery rule are questions of law, reviewed for correct." *Ockey v. Lehmer*, 2008 UT 37, ¶ 34, 189 P.3d 51; *Colosimo v. Roman Catholic Bishop*, 2007 UT 25, ¶ 11, 156 P.3d 806. The application of the statute of limitations is a question of law. *See Arnold v. Grigsby*, 2009 UT 88, ¶ 7, 225 P.3d 192; *Call v. Keiter*, 2010 UT App 55, ¶¶ 14-15, 230 P.3d 128. As a matter of equity, evidence of facts sufficient to raise the discovery rule is



a finding of fact that is reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard. *In re Hoopiaina Trust*, 2006 UT 53, ¶37, 44 P.3d 1129. In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, the reviewing court “view[s] the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Higgins v. Salt Lake County*, 855 P.2d 231 (Utah 1993).

- b. **Preservation for Appeal:** This matter has been preserved for appeal in the Plaintiff’s Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Opposition to Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment. (Record 300-303.)

### **Improper Weighing of Evidence**

- (2) The trial court erred when it weighed evidence when considering a motion for summary judgment.

- a. **Standard of Review:** The appellate court reviews a trial court’s grant of summary judgment for correctness. The appellate court reviews a trial court’s “summary judgment determination for correctness, granting no deference to the district court’s legal conclusions. [The appellate court] determines only whether the district court erred in applying the governing law and whether the district court correctly held that there were no disputed issues of material fact.” *Salt Lake County v. Holliday Water Co.*, 2010 UT, ¶ 14, 234 P.3d 1105 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). An appeals court also reviews “[t]he applicability of both the statute of limitations and the equitable discovery rule are questions of law, reviewed for correct.” *Ockey v. Lehmer*, 2008 UT 37, ¶ 34, 189 P.3d 51; *Colosimo v. Roman Catholic Bishop*, 2007 UT 25, ¶ 11, 156 P.3d 806. In reviewing a

grant of summary judgment, the reviewing court “view[s] the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Higgins v. Salt Lake County*, 855 P.2d 231 (Utah 1993).

- b. **Preservation for Appeal:** This matter has been preserved for appeal in the March 31, 2009 Ruling and January 19, 2010 Judgment. (Record 332-346 and 382-391.)

### **No Determination of Constructive Trust**

- (3) The trial court erred when it determined that a constructive trust was not established in 1966.

- a. **Standard of Review:** The appellate court reviews a trial court’s “summary judgment determination for correctness, granting no deference to the district court’s legal conclusions. [The appellate court] determines only whether the district court erred in applying the governing law and whether the district court correctly held that there were no disputed issues of material fact.” *Salt Lake County v. Holliday Water Co.*, 2010 UT, ¶ 14, 234 P.3d 1105 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). The proper standard of review for matters both in equity and at law is a ‘clearly erroneous’ standard. *RHN Corp. v. Veibell*, 2004 UT 60, ¶35, 96 P.3d 935. In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, the reviewing court “view[s] the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Higgins v. Salt Lake County*, 855 P.2d 231 (Utah 1993).

- b. **Preservation for Appeal:** This matter has been preserved for appeal in the.  
(Record 340 and 385-86.)

### **Improper Exclusion of Evidence**

(4) The Trial Court's Determination that the Affidavits of Bette Davis Stratton and Glen Richard Davis were Inadmissible Hearsay Evidence was Made in Error and Constitute Material Issue of Fact Precluding Summary Judgment.

- a. **Standard of Review:** The "standard of review on the admissibility of hearsay evidence is complex, since the determination of admissibility often contains a number of rulings, each of which may require a different standard of review. Legal questions regarding admissibility are reviewed for correctness, and questions of fact are reviewed for clear error. And, [f]inally, we review the district court's ruling on admissibility for abuse of discretion." *Salt Lake City v. George*, 2008 UT App 257, ¶ 5, 189 P.3d 1284. The appellate court reviews a trial court's grant of summary judgment for correctness. The appellate court reviews a trial court's "summary judgment determination for correctness, granting no deference to the district court's legal conclusions. [The appellate court] determines only whether the district court erred in applying the governing law and whether the district court correctly held that there were no disputed issues of material fact." *Salt Lake County v. Holliday Water Co.*, 2010 UT, ¶ 14, 234 P.3d 1105 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). An appeals court also reviews "[t]he applicability of both the statute of limitations and the equitable discovery rule are questions of law, reviewed for correct."

*Ockey v. Lehmer*, 2008 UT 37, ¶ 34, 189 P.3d 51; *Colosimo v. Roman Catholic Bishop*, 2007 UT 25, ¶ 11, 156 P.3d 806. In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, the reviewing court “view[s] the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Higgins v. Salt Lake County*, 855 P.2d 231 (Utah 1993).

- b. **Preservation for Appeal:** This matter has been preserved for appeal in the March 31, 2009 Ruling and January 19, 2010 Judgment. (Record 387, 341-42).

#### **STATUTES AND RULES WHOSE INTERPRETATION IS DETERMINATIVE ON APPEAL**

##### UTAH RULES OF EVIDENCE, RULE 601(C)

- (1) Evidence of a statement is not made inadmissible by the hearsay rule when offered in an action upon a claim or demand against the estate of the declarant if the statement was made upon the personal knowledge of the declarant at a time when the matter had been recently perceived by the declarant and while the declarant’s recollection was clear.
- (2) Evidence of a statement is inadmissible under this section if the statement was made under circumstances such as to indicate its lack of trustworthiness

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The present case involves a dispute between siblings (individually and via their estate) over 59 acres of family property located in Genola, Utah. (Record at 34, 390.) In 1938, Glen and Lilly Davis purchased 120 acres of property in Genola, Utah. In August of 1946, Glen and Lilly Davis transferred to their three sons, Ralph Sr., Marion, and Sterling, an undivided 1/3 interest in 59 acres of property as tenants in common. (Record

at 313, 390.) A separate and independent one acre parcel of property was transferred to Marion in his individual capacity. (Record at 390.) Marion remained on the property and did most of the farming that was conducted on the property. (Record at 390.) In the late fall of 1950, Marion Davis and his wife Donna Davis requested permission of Marion's brothers, Ralph Davis ("Ralph, Sr.) and Sterling Davis, to use the 59-acre farm property as security for a loan so that Marion and Donna could build a home on the separate one acre parcel they owned with the agreement that title to the property would be transferred back to all three brothers as before when the loan was paid off. (Record at 273-286, 310, 390). Ralph, Sr. and Sterling agreed to the request and on December 11, 1950, Ralph, Sr. and his wife deeded, as an accommodation to his brother Marion Davis, their 1/3 interest in the 59-acre parcel to allow Marion to use the property as security for his home loan. (*Id*) (Record at 136). Sterling and his wife did the same. (*Id*). All parties understood that the deeds were not to convey ownership to Marion Davis, but only to allow him to mortgage the 59 acres to secure the home loan. (*Id*). After the loan was obtained on June 5, 1951, in compliance with the accommodation agreement, Marion and Donna Davis reconveyed by warranty deed the 1/3 interest in the 59 acres back to Ralph O. and Dorothy Ruth Davis even though the mortgage on the property was not paid off at that time. (*Id*) (Record at 132). The same was accomplished for Sterling and his wife. (*Id*).

In August of 1966, Marion and Donna Davis again requested Ralph, Sr. and Sterling to allow them to use the 59 acres as security for another loan, under the same terms as accomplished in 1950. (Record at 268-270, 281-282, 310, 389-90). On or about August 29, 1966, Ralph, Sr. and Dorothy Davis signed a warranty deed, recorded in October 1966, conveying their 1/3 interest in the 59 acres to Marion and Donna Davis to

accommodate their loan for the addition to their home. (Record at 249-250, 310, 389). Sterling did the same. (*Id.*) At the same time, Sterling received some of the proceeds from the loan. (*Id.*) The purpose of the transfer was not to convey ownership to Marion and Donna, but was to afford them the ability to pledge the 59 acres for the loan for the addition to their home, which could not otherwise been accomplished without the generosity of Marion's brothers. (Record at 263-266, 268-270, 280-282, 310). Ralph, Sr. received no proceeds from loan. (*Id.*) After obtaining the loan, Marion and Donna did not re-convey the 1/3 interest back to Ralph and Sterling Davis as had been done in the first loan. (Record at 388-89, 307-09). The loan obtained by Marion and Donna was paid off in approximately 1980. (Record at 238-243, 309, 389). After paying off the loan, Marion and Donna Davis failed to reconvey to Ralph and Dorothy Davis the 1/3 interest in the property. (Record at 388-89, 307-09). On or about October 3, 1980, Ralph, Sr. sent a letter to Marion and Donna proposing a resolution to transfer title to Ralph, Sr. and Dorothy of their 1/3 interest in the 59 acres by a partition of the property. (Record at 238-243, 313-14, 309, 389). Marion and Donna Davis did not respond to this letter. (Record at 389). In February 1990, Marion and Donna Davis sent a letter to Ralph, Sr. and enclosed an executed Warranty Deed purporting to transfer 10 acres to Ralph, Sr. and Dorothy Davis not to be recorded until after Marion's death. (Record at 245-247, 313-14, 309, 389). The letter and the deed acknowledged Marion and Donna's obligation to transfer title of Ralph and Dorothy's 1/3 interest in the property back to them. (Record at 245-247, 309, 388-89). The deed and the letter were an attempt to satisfy Ralph, Sr. and Dorothy with 10 acres of property instead of the 20 acres to which they had a right. (*Id.*)

Ralph, Sr. continued to make statements reaffirming his interest in the property until his death in 2005. (Record at 307-313, 309; 268-71; 263-266; 258-61).

Dorothy Davis died on March 17, 2000. (Record at 388). Ralph Davis, Sr. died on February 25, 2005. (Record at 388). The Estate of Ralph O. Davis filed suit in this matter on May 18, 2007. (Record at 35). After discovery Marion and Donna filed a motion for summary judgment arguing that the statute of limitations had run for asserting constructive trust and that the discovery rule did not apply. (Record at 235). The Estate of Ralph O. Davis responded to the Defendants' summary judgment motion. (Record at 314). The trial court granted the Marion and Donna's summary judgment motion. (Record at 346).

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The trial court erred when it found that the discovery rule was not applicable and determined that the statute of limitations commenced in 1980. The trial court erred in this respect by failing to recognize and to apply the discovery rule applies in familial trust cases. In cases involving claims of familial constructive trusts, the statute of limitations is tolled because the matter is automatically considered to fall within the "exceptional circumstance" prong of the discovery rule. The statute of limitations in familial constructive trust claims is does not begin to run until after a determination that a repudiation of the trust has occurred. Finally, without a finding of repudiation of the trust, the statute of limitations cannot begin to run.

The trial court erred when it weighed evidence when considering a motion for summary judgment. This requirement is underscored by the fact that repudiation of a constructive trust is fact sensitive and precludes summary judgment. Because the trial

court erred by improperly weighing facts at the summary judgment stage and because there were material issues of disputed fact as to whether a constructive trust existed, summary judgment should have been denied by the trial court.

Finally, the trial court erred when it determined that a constructive trust was not established in 1966.

In making these determinations, the trial court erred by determining that the affidavits of Bette Davis Stratton, Ralph Davis, Jr. and Glen Richard Davis were inadmissible hearsay evidence.

### ARGUMENT

Because the granting of a motion for summary judgment deprives the non-moving party of their day in court, the appellate courts in Utah have on many occasions described the limited inquiry the trial court must make before the granting of such motion:

Summary judgment is proper only if the pleadings, depositions, affidavits and admissions show that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

*In re Williams' Estate*, 10 Utah 2d 83, 348 P.2d 683 (1960).

A summary judgment movant must show both that there is no material issue of fact and that the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

*Orvis v. Johnson*, 2008 UT 2, ¶ 6, 177 P.3d 600 (emphasis added).

As set forth below, there are issues of law and material issues of fact which preclude a finding of summary judgment in this matter



**I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND THAT THE DISCOVERY RULE WAS NOT APPLICABLE AND DETERMINED THAT THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS COMMENCED IN 1980.**

The trial court erred in its grant of summary judgment in favor of Marion and Donna, because there were issues of law applied by the trial court that prevented the correct determination of how the discovery rule and the tolling of the statute of limitations works in constructive trust cases involving family relations. *See, Orvis v. Johnson*, 2008 UT 2, ¶ 6.

It is commonly understood that statute of limitation issues in constructive trust actions are complicated and fact-intensive, especially in those actions involving family members. *See, Acott v. Tomlinson*, 9 Utah 2d 71 (Utah 1959), 337 P.2d 720; *Walker v. Walker*, 17 Utah 2d 53, 404 P.2d 253 (1965); and *Rawlings v. Rawlings*, 2010 UT 52, -- P.3d --.

In this case, the trial court erred in its interpretation and application of the law with regards to statute of limitations in trust cases. (Record 333-341). While the trial court determined that it could not make a decision on whether a constructive trust existed in 1980, the trial court's holding that the purpose of the conveyance was met when the mortgage was paid off and that the statute of limitations began to run, is a holding that the 1966 deed from Ralph to Marion formed a constructive trust, despite the court's statement otherwise and the court was required to apply the discovery rule, which the court did not. (Record at 384-5). Instead, the trial court erroneously determined that constructive trust ceases to run when the purpose of the trust has been completed. (Record at 385). Additionally, the determination that the statute of limitations begins to

run when the purpose of the trust is completed in a trust claims case is not the established law regarding statute of limitations in trust claims cases as set forth more fully below.

**A. The Trial Court Erred by Failing to Recognize and to Apply the Discovery Rule in Familial Trusts Cases.**

The discovery rule is an equitable doctrine that tolls the statute of limitations when a person lacks knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of action.

While a statute of limitations generally begins running when a plaintiff has a completed cause of action, the discovery rule may nonetheless operate to toll a statute of limitations until the time at which a party discovered or reasonably should have discovered facts forming the basis for the cause of action.

*In re Hoopiaina Trust*, 2006 UT at ¶35.

[T]here are two situations in which an equitable discovery rule will operate to toll a statute of limitations: (1) where a plaintiff does not become aware of the cause of action because of the defendant's concealment or misleading conduct, and (2) where the case presents exceptional circumstances and the application of the general rule would be irrational or unjust.

*Id.* at ¶ 35 (citations and original quotation marks omitted). Generally, the concealment prong of the discovery rule requires the party relying on the discovery rule to show that “he neither discovered nor reasonably should have discovered the facts underlying the cause of action before the limitations period expired due to the defendant’s concealment.”

*Id.* at ¶ 36. The court usually then conducts a balancing test to determine whether the rule applies. *Id.*

In cases involving a trust, however, the balancing test has already been applied and the discovery rule applies. *Snow v. Rudd*, 2000 Utah 20, ¶ 10, 998 P.2d 262 (“In *Acott* and *Walker* we found, in substance, that to not apply the discovery rule would lead

to unjust results because of the close familial relationship involved.”); *See, Acott*, 337 P.2d at 724; *Walker*, 404 P.2d at 257.

In the instant matter, the trial court failed to recognize that the discovery rule applies in familial trust cases. (Record at 385-86, 334-338).

**i. In cases involving claims of familial constructive trusts, the statute of limitations is tolled because the matter is automatically considered to fall within the “exceptional circumstance” prong of the discovery rule.**

The statute of limitations is tolled until the trustee has made a clear repudiation of his responsibilities as a holder of the trust property is even heightened where the claim involves familial relations and constructive trusts. *Walker*, 404 P.2d at 257. “Where a near relative is involved courts are less inclined to find a repudiation. This is so because of the greater likelihood that the beneficiaries have reposed confidence in him; and also, they would have a natural reluctance to sue him unless circumstances forced them to do so.” *Id.* Consequently, the matter is automatically considered to be an “exceptional circumstances” requiring that the statute of limitations be tolled until repudiation occurs. *Snow*, 2000 UT at ¶ 11.

In *Snow*, the Utah Supreme Court emphasized and clarified that a familial trust is automatically an “exceptional circumstance” requiring application of the discovery rule:

[W]here a trustee is sued by a beneficiary or claims a violation of trust, it constitutes an “exceptional circumstance” calling for application of the discovery rule. We have held that under certain “exceptional circumstances” we will find that a rigid application of the statute of limitations may be “irrational and unjust” and thus make the discovery rule available. To determine when this is the case, we apply a balancing test to weigh the hardship imposed on the claimant by the application of the statute of limitations against any prejudice to the defendant resulting from the passage of time. In the categories of cases involving beneficiaries claim of trustee misconduct, we have in effect, already conducted this balancing test. In *Acott* and *Walker* we found, in substance, that to not apply the discovery

rule would lead to unjust results because of the close familial relationship involved. In such a situation, the beneficiary will be less likely to question the motives of the trustee and less likely to sue. Therefore, it is appropriate to protect the interests of a beneficiary by applying the discovery rule to toll the statute of limitations until the beneficiary knows or should know of the alleged breach or repudiation.

*Id.* (internal quotation marks and citations omitted)(emphasis added).

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