2010

The Estate of Ralph O. Davis, Sr., or The Ralph O.
Davis, Sr., Trust v. Morion Davis and Donna Davis :
Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Regardless of whether or not the court might impose a constructive trust, plaintiff's claim is barred by the statute of limitations because Ralph knew in 1980 all of

the facts that would lead him to believe he had a cause of action and there was neither concealment nor exceptional circumstances that would justify applying the discovery rule until 2007. Because constructive trust is an equitable remedy, there is not a preexisting trustee/beneficiary relationship, and therefore no basis on which to judge misconduct or repudiation. Therefore, a *per se* finding of “exceptional circumstances” likely only applies to familial cases in which there is an actual, express, or implied trust.

Furthermore, even if the discovery rule applies, the statute of limitations is only tolled until the time at which a party discovered or reasonably should have discovered facts forming the basis for the cause of action. It is, therefore, unnecessary for the Court to determine whether a constructive trust exists because, regardless of whether the discovery rule is applied, the plaintiff is barred by the statute of limitations based on the undisputed fact that Ralph and his heirs knew of the dispute long before this action commenced, and equity favors the diligent.

The trial court properly reviewed all the facts and reasonable inferences drawn in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. The appellate court, applying the same standard, should affirm the trial court’s decision because there is no genuine issue as to any material fact. It is undisputed that Marion accepted sole responsibility for maintaining the farm, caring for his aging parents, and paying off their father’s loan on the property, all while providing his brothers with their share of the farm’s profits. Sterling refused to accept any property because of the money he received and because he recognized Marion’s years of hard work in maintaining the property. Although Ralph did not receive any loan proceeds, he still received profits from the farm for a number of

years without providing any support. Marion even offered to deed Ralph 10 acres, despite the fact that Marion had split the profits evenly with his brothers for several years, without paying himself wages for his labor, and after taking on the full burden of satisfying his father's debts. The trial court properly determined that plaintiff's affidavits were inadmissible, because they did not qualify for any of the hearsay exceptions, they do not fall within Rule 601(c), and they lack probative value of material facts. After weighing the undisputed facts, even in a light favorable to the plaintiff, the trial court properly refrained from imposing an equitable constructive trust based on the 1966 conveyance because there was no need to provide a remedy for unjust enrichment.

ARGUMENT

In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, the Utah Supreme Court noted that a challenge to a summary judgment presents for review only conclusions of law because, by definition, cases decided on summary judgment do not resolve factual disputes. *Schurtz*, 814 P.2d at 1111-1112. The Court later explained that “[b]ecause entitlement to summary judgment is a question of law, no deference is due the trial court’s determination of the issues presented. However, we may affirm a grant of summary judgment on any ground available to the trial court, even if it is one not relied on below.” *Higgins*, 855 P.2d at 235 (citing *Hill*, 827 P.2d at 246). Therefore, this court reviews the lower court’s grant of summary judgment for correctness. *Schurtz*, 814 P.2d at 1112.

Under UTAH R. CIV. P. 56(c), a moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law if, together with the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, that party can show there is no genuine issue as to any material fact.

Id. In determining whether to grant a motion for summary judgment, the court should review the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, *Lakeside Lumber Products, Inc., v. Evans*, 2005 UT App 87, ¶ 8, 110 P.3d 154 (citing *Higgins*, 885 P.2d at 233), although the nonmoving party still has the burden of proving “all elements of [the] cause of action.” *Thayne*, 874 P.2d 120.

According to the Utah Supreme Court’s interpretation of UTAH R. CIV. P. 56(e), the [plaintiff] has the burden “to provide some evidence, by affidavit or otherwise, in support of the essential elements of his claim.” *Thayne*, 874 P.2d at 124. The Utah R. Civ. P. 56(e) says:

“when a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleadings, but his response, by affidavits or otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. If he does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against him.”

Under this rule, “an affidavit on information and belief is insufficient to provoke a genuine issue of fact.” *Treloggan v. Treloggan*, 699 P.2d 747, 748 (Utah 1985). The Utah Supreme Court has held that “an opposing affidavit . . . must be made on personal knowledge of the affiant . . . statements made merely on information and belief will be disregarded.” *Id.* at 748.

Here, plaintiff has “failed to identify with specificity any material fact” which would allow plaintiff to survive defendants’ motion for summary judgment. *Id.* Neither party disputes that, in 1966, Ralph and Dorothy Davis signed a Warranty Deed conveying their 1/3 interest to Marion and Donna Davis. (R. 389).

Additionally, plaintiff has not provided any evidence, other than general belief or information, that this interest was to be re-conveyed to Ralph, or that upon failure to do so Ralph pursued any cause of action available to him at that time. Therefore, plaintiff's claim is now barred by the statute of limitations, making the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of defendants appropriate.

I. REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE COURT IMPOSES A CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST, THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM IS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

Plaintiff's claim is barred by the statute of limitations, regardless of whether the Court determines that a constructive trust exists, because (1) there were no exceptional circumstances that would justify applying the discovery rule and (2) plaintiff knew all the facts forming the basis for a possible cause of action as early as 1980. "[A] claim for constructive trust sounds in equity and therefore falls within the catch-all, four year statute of limitations in Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-25(3)." *Nielsen v. Nielsen*, 2000 UT App 37, ¶ 13 (citing *American Tierra Corp. v. West Jordan*, 840 P.2d 757, 761 (Utah 1992) (actions in equity frequently are governed by a state's catch-all limitation statute, and in light of the Utah precedents that have applied our four-year catch-all statute to equitable actions, we are persuaded that the four-year limitation currently prescribed by UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-12-25(3) is the proper limitation period)); *see also Snow v. Rudd*, 2000 UT 20, 998 P.2d 262 (holding that plaintiff's constructive trust claim was barred by the four year statute of limitations in § 78-12-25). The revised UTAH CODE ANN. § 78B-2-307 states in pertinent part that "[a]n action may be brought within four years: . . . (3)

for relief not otherwise provided for by law.” The trial court found that “a claim under a constructive trust is subject to the general statute of limitations,” but stated that it would be three years as prescribed by UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-12-26(3) (now renumbered to UTAH CODE ANN. § 78B-2-305(3)). (Ruling on Motion for Summary Judgment at R. 338). While this appears to be a mere clerical error, the difference is negligible because plaintiff’s claim falls outside the statute of limitations under either statute.

Plaintiff asserts that cases of familial constructive trusts create *per se* exceptional circumstances which result in the discovery rule tolling the statute of limitations until a clear repudiation by the trustee. App. Br. at 12. However, the *per se* rule plaintiff describes should apply only to cases in which an actual or express trust exists. See *Snow*, 2000 UT 20.. Even if the discovery rule applies, the statute of limitations is only tolled until “the time at which a party discovered or reasonably should have discovered facts forming the basis for the cause of action.” *In re Hoopiaina Trust*, 2000 UT at ¶ 19. Tolling the statute of limitations until repudiation of a constructive trust would be problematic because the “trustee” would not know of any duties under the trust until after a court determined that a constructive trust existed. Requiring a party to repudiate a trust the party did not know existed would result in the perpetual tolling of the statute of limitations, and the discovery rule exception would swallow the statute of limitations rule.

Whether or not a constructive trust exists, plaintiff is barred by the statute of limitations based on the undisputed fact that Ralph knew as early as 1980 and again in 1990 all of the facts that formed a potential cause of action. (R. 387-390). No equitable

doctrine requires the court to allow plaintiff to bring suit nearly 30 years after discovering a potential cause of action simply because the dispute involved family members. Rather, equity favors only the diligent, particularly in cases such as this where key parties, “who might have known the facts and testified thereto are now silenced in death.” *Ruthrauff v. Silver King Western Min. & Mill. Co.*, 95 Utah 279, 80 P.2d 338, 343 (1938).

A. Discovery Rule

Ralph’s heirs knowingly sat on their rights and, therefore, should not benefit from the tolling of the statute of limitations for 27 years after the cause of action arose. Under the equitable doctrine of the discovery rule, a statute of limitations may be tolled until “the time at which a party discovered or reasonably should have discovered facts forming the basis for the cause of action.” *In re Hoopiaina Trust*, 2006 UT 53, ¶ 35 (citing *Russell Packard Dev., Inc. v. Carson*, 2005 UT 14, ¶ 21, 108 P.3d 741 (internal quotation marks omitted)). The Utah Supreme Court determined that the statute of limitations is applicable in all cases where constructive or implied trusts arise, and that “the statute begins to run from the time the complaining party discovered the wrongs complained of or when he was apprised of such facts and circumstances with respect thereto as would put a person of ordinary intelligence and prudence upon inquiry.” *Jones Min. Co. v. Cardiff Min. & Mill Co.*, 56 Utah 449, 191 P. 426, 429 (1920); *see also Ruthrauff*, 80 P.2d at 343 (stating that with respect to a constructive trust, “[l]imitations and laches begin to run from the time he knew or by reasonable inquiry might have known the relevant facts.”); *Auerbach v. Samuels*, 10 Utah 2d 152, 157, 349 P.2d 1112 (1960) (holding that even under the plaintiff’s theory of wrongful distribution and constructive

trust, the period within which an action had to be commenced began to run from the time the person entitled to the property knew, or by reasonable diligence and inquiry should have known, the relevant facts.); W.W. Allen, *When statute of limitations starts to run against enforcement of constructive trust*, 55 A.L.R.2d 220 (2007).

Plaintiff asserts that in cases involving familial constructive trusts, *per se* exceptional circumstances require that the statute of limitations be tolled until repudiation of the trust. App. Br. at 13. The equitable discovery rule applies in two situations: “(1) where a plaintiff does not become aware of the cause of action because of the defendant’s concealment or misleading conduct and (2) where the case presents exceptional circumstances and the application of the general rule would be irrational or unjust.” *In re Hoopiaina Trust*, 2006 UT 53, ¶ 35 (citing *Russell Packard Dev., Inc.*, 2005 UT 14, ¶ 35). Thus, courts apply the discovery rule “only when required by statute, when a defendant has affirmatively concealed a plaintiff’s cause of action, or when exceptional circumstances exist.” *Snow*, 2000 UT 20, ¶10, (citing *Berenda v. Langford*, 914 P.2d 45, 51 (Utah 1996)). Under the general statute of limitations described in UTAH CODE ANN. § 78B-2-307(3), there is no statutory requirement for the discovery rule, and the undisputed facts show that the defendants never affirmatively concealed the plaintiff’s cause of action. (R. 387-390). On the contrary, Ralph and Marion discussed the basis for the dispute as soon as it arose in 1980. (R. 389). Therefore, only exceptional circumstances would trigger application of the discovery rule. To determine whether exceptional circumstances exist, the Court applies “a balancing test to weigh the hardship imposed on the claimant by the application of the statute of limitations against any prejudice to the

defendant resulting from the passage of time.” *Snow*, 2000 UT 20, ¶ 11 (quoting *Sevy v. Security Title Co.*, 902 P.2d 629 (Utah 1995)).

Although there is now an alleged hardship to the plaintiff in applying the statute of limitations, it is neither irrational nor unjust because there was no reason for the plaintiff to postpone bringing a claim within the time allowed by the statute of limitations. On the contrary, Ralph knew about the dispute as early as 1980, (R. 389), yet a complaint was never filed until more than two years after Ralph’s death in 2005 (R. 35). Furthermore, the 27 year delay has prejudiced the defendant because Ralph and his wife are no longer available to shed light on the intentions of the parties or the nature of the dispute. (R. 388). The fact that Ralph’s heirs waited until his death to bring suit further supports Marion’s assertion that Ralph, like Sterling, had relinquished any rights to the property and abandoned any intention to pursue a claim. (R. 219-220). Therefore, the trial court properly determined that:

“there was no basis for Ralph and his wife (or their heirs) to assume that Marion and Donna were merely holding and managing the profit for their benefit as in *Walker* nor, as in *Snow*, is there an equitable reason to allow these potentially aggrieved parties to sit on their rights rather than to seek an immediate determination of their claim. It is, therefore, the conclusion of this Court that the exceptional circumstances rule of discovery under the statute of limitations (U.C.A. 78B-2-305(1)) does not apply to this case.”

(Ruling on Motion for Summary Judgment at R. 334).

Plaintiff asserts that the Utah Supreme Court’s decision in *Snow* requires a *per se* finding of exceptional circumstances in familial trust cases. App. Br. at 12. However, the Court stated that a finding of *per se* exceptional circumstances only applies “in the categories of cases involving beneficiaries’ claims of *trustee misconduct* (emphasis

added).” *Snow*, 2000 UT 20, ¶11. In *Snow*, a beneficiary of a trust suspected in 1985 that a trustee (her sister) had sold trust property in breach of trust duties. *Id.* The Court determined that because of the trustee’s misconduct in breaching her duties under the trust, and because of the close familial relationship involved, it was “appropriate to protect the interests of a beneficiary by applying the discovery rule to toll the statute of limitations until the beneficiary knows or should know of the alleged breach or repudiation.” *Id.* Even after applying the discovery rule, the Court held that the beneficiary was barred by the statute of limitations because she had knowledge of all facts necessary to put her on notice to inquire as to whether a breach of the trust had occurred. *Id.* at ¶13.

Therefore, while the language cited by plaintiff appears to suggest that a *per se* discovery rule applies in familial trust cases, it does not go as far as to require a clear repudiation by a trustee of a constructive trust. Instead, applying the discovery rule based on *per se* exceptional circumstances likely only occurs in familial cases in which there is an actual express trust, like in *Snow*. A *per se* discovery rule that tolled the statute of limitations until a clear repudiation of the trust would be problematic in constructive trust cases because a constructive trust is an equitable remedy of the court, so no clear trustee-beneficiary relationship exists. Therefore, there would be no basis on which to judge trustee misconduct, because any alleged wrong-doing would be merely a dispute.

B. Repudiation

Furthermore, requiring “clear repudiation” by a trustee of a constructive trust is also problematic because there is no specific agreement or trust instrument to repudiate.

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